2009

Larry Roth v. Peder J. Pedersen, M.D. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

The Utah Supreme Court has original jurisdiction under U.C.A. §78A-3-102(3)(j); the Supreme Court transferred this case to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. §78A-3-102(4).

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. Judgment of the Pleadings

Issue # 1: Did Trial Court Error in Making Its Findings Based Upon Allegations Made Outside the Pleadings?

Preservation of Issue: The Trial Court's findings of course occurred after the pleadings and after the motion and memorandums were filed. Although the Motion was made pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6) *URCP*, the Court recognized that the Defendant/Appellee Dr. Peder J. Pedersen, M.D. (hereinafter referred to as "Dr. Pedersen") had filed his Answer and therefore treated the Motion as one filed pursuant to Rule 12(c) *URCP*. Therefore this issue is preserved upon the filings of the pleadings and in this case the pleadings are limited to the Complaint and Answer.

Issue # 1: Did the trial court err in finding that the statute of limitations had run?

Preservation of Issue: Plaintiff/Appellant Larry Roth's (hereinafter referred to as "Roth") allegations set forth in his Complaint [R. 1-10]¹ are deemed true for purposes of a motion for judgment on the pleadings under Rule 12(c) Utah Rules of Civ. Proc. Roth in his Memorandum in Opposition to Dr. Pedersen Motion to Dismiss argues

¹ References to the trial court record appear as [R. ____].

that Dr. Pedersen bases his position upon subsection (1) of U.C.A. §78B-3-404 while ignoring subsection (2)(b) thereof. Roth further argues in his Opposition Memorandum that subsection (2)(b) is applicable as Dr. Pedersen had a fiduciary duty to his patient Roth and his actions or omissions amounted to fraudulent concealment and that Roth is therefore entitled to apply the Discovery Rule as to the statute of limitations.

Issue #3: Did the Trial Court Error in Finding No Allegations Sufficient under Rule 9, URCP to Raise Issue of Fraudulent Concealment?

Preservation of Issue: The averments set forth in Roth's Complaint are sufficient under Rule 9 to find fraudulent concealment.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

"When reviewing a grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings, this court accepts the factual allegations in the complaint as true; we then consider such allegations 'and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the plaintiff.' " Intermountain Sports, Inc. v. Department of Transp., 103 P.3d 716, 718 (Utah App. 2004) citing, Arndt v. First Interstate Bank of Utah, N.A., 1999 UT 91, p 2, 991 P.2d 584 (citation omitted). " '[W]e affirm the grant of such motion only if, as a matter of law, the plaintiff could not recover under the facts alleged.' " *Id.*

The district court's application of a statute of limitations is a question of law, which we review for correctness. Nolan v. Hoopiaina (In re Hoopiaina Trust), 144 P.3d 1129 (UT 2006). The applicability of a statute of limitations and the applicability of the discovery rule are questions of law, which we review for correctness." Spears v. Warr, 44 P.3d 742, 753 (Utah 2002).

DETERMINATIVE LAW

U.C.A. §78B-3-404(2)(b)

(2) Notwithstanding Subsection (1):

(a) (Omitted)

(b) in an action where it is alleged that a patient has been prevented from discovering misconduct on the part of a health care provider because that health care provider has affirmatively acted to fraudulently conceal the alleged misconduct, the claim shall be barred unless commenced within one year after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence, should have discovered the fraudulent concealment, whichever first occurs.

Supreme Court in Chapman v. Primary Children's Hospital, 784 P.2d 1181, 1184

(Utah 1989) in reference to §78-14-4(1)(b) stated, "...we interpret the "discovery of fraudulent concealment" provision of the statute as incorporating discovery of legal injury as well as discovery of fraudulent concealment."

Rule 12(c) *URCP* "When reviewing a grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings, this court accepts the factual allegations in the complaint as true; we then consider such allegations 'and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the plaintiff.' " Intermountain Sports, Inc. v. Department of Transp., 103 P.3d 716, 718 (Utah App. 2004) citing, Arndt v. First Interstate Bank of Utah, N.A., 991 P.2d 584 (Utah 1999)(citation omitted). " '[W]e affirm the grant of such motion only if, as a matter of law, the plaintiff could not recover under the facts alleged.' " *Id.*

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This matter arose out of a surgery that Dr. Pedersen and a general surgeon, Dr. Voorhees performed on Roth on May 24, 2004. [R1-10, ¶¶16, 20 & 21] The surgery was

performed in order to remove a polypectomy (this is a site where the GI doctor snipes a polyp in a patients colon) site that was suspect of being cancerous. [R1-10, ¶¶14 & 15]

A Dr. Joseph was the GI doctor that performed the polypectomy. [R1-10, ¶¶11 & 12]

Dr. Joseph was Dr. Pedersen's partner. [R1-10, ¶¶8 & 9] Dr. Joseph informed Dr. Voorhees that he placed tattoo markings above and below the polypectomy site in order to show its location in the colon. [R1-10, ¶17] Dr. Joseph also described the polypectomy site in his medical report at being 15 cm from the anal verge and further described its location in the distal sigmoid portion of the colon. [R1-10, ¶13] During the surgery Dr. Voorhees was unable to locate the tattoos and as Dr. Joseph was unavailable his partner Dr. Pedersen went over Dr. Joseph's medical chart with Dr. Voorhees and then Dr. Pedersen joined Dr. Voorhees in the operating room (OR). [R1-10, ¶¶18, 19 & 20] Before Dr. Pedersen arrived in the OR Dr. Voorhees had removed 25 cm of Roth's distal sigmoid colon. [R1-10, ¶22] Dr. Pedersen knew that general surgeons such as Dr. Voorhees located polypectomy sites based upon anatomical description and in this case he believed the polypectomy was located as described in Dr. Joseph's medical chart as being the distal sigmoid colon and therefore removed this section. [R1-10, ¶27] Dr. Pedersen also knew that he and other gastroenterologists located sites by centimeter measurement and knew that Dr. Joseph described the polypectomy site at 15 cm from the anal verge. [R1-10, ¶¶26 & 27] Dr. Voorhees called Dr. Pedersen to assist him in the operation as he [Dr. Voorhees] was having difficulty in seeing any tattoos or in seeing the polypectomy site. [R1-10, ¶20] Dr. Pedersen scoped the colon 20 cm up to the suture (where Dr. Voorhees removed the distal sigmoid colon). [R1-10, ¶25] Dr. Pedersen was unable to locate the tattoos or the

polypectomy site. [R1-10, ¶24] Dr. Pedersen then agreed with Dr. Voorhees that the polypectomy site had been removed and the surgery was terminated. [R1-10, ¶33]

Roth had follow-up colonoscopies in October 2004 and in November 2004 and in January 2005 a second surgery was performed to remove the polypectomy site. [R1-10, ¶36] [R25-45, ¶7c]

Roth initiated an arbitration claim for malpractice against Dr. Voorhees. [R25-45, ¶7h] During discovery in the arbitration matter Roth took the deposition of Dr. Voorhees on January 26, 2007 and Dr. Voorhees testified at the arbitration proceeding in August 2007 wherein Roth learned for the first time that Dr. Pedersen agreed with Dr. Voorhees that the polypectomy site was removed, that Dr. Pedersen was aware at the time of the surgery that his partner Dr. Joseph was experiencing problems with the new ink dye used for tattooing and did not divulge this critical information to Dr. Voorhees during the surgery and that Dr. Pedersen knew or should have known that the polypectomy site was not removed. [R1-10, ¶¶34 & 40]

After discovering Dr. Pedersen's negligence, Roth initiated his legal action against Dr. Pedersen by serving him with the statutory requisite Notice of Intent to Commence an Action within one year of discovery [R25-45, ¶2] and followed this with filing suit and serving Dr. Pedersen in August 2008. [R 1-10]. Dr. Pedersen filed his Answer. [R 25-45] On the day he filed his Answer Dr. Pedersen filed his Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings and Memorandum in support. [11-14 & 15-24]. Roth filed his Opposition Memorandum [46-57] followed by Dr. Pedersen's Reply Memorandum [58-66]. Trial Court issued its Minute Entry [70-71] which included an order for Dr. Pedersen to prepare order and judgment. Dr. Pedersen prepared an order, judgment and

findings and it was entered January 13, 2009 [72-76]. Roth filed his Notice of Appeal January 22, 2009. [77-78].

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS RELEVANT TO THE ISSUES ON APPEAL²

1. Dr. Pedersen performs professional services as a physician and does business in Salt Lake County, state of Utah.
2. That at all times relevant herein Dr. Pedersen was and is a licensed physician in the state of Utah.
3. That at all times relevant Dr. Pedersen was a shareholder of Gastroenterology Associates, Inc. PC, a Utah professional corporation.
4. That at all times relevant Dr. Ronald Joseph was a shareholder of Gastroenterology Associates, Inc. PC, a Utah professional corporation.
5. That Gastroenterology Associates, PC maintains its offices at 1250 E. 3900 S., Suite 360, Salt Lake City, Utah, which office building connects to St. Mark's Hospital.
6. That Dr. Ronald Joseph performed a colonoscopy on the Roth on April 28, 2004.
7. That Dr. Ronald Joseph removed from the Roth's colon a large polyp of about 2.5 cm in size along with several small polyps measured in terms of millimeters.

² "When reviewing a grant of a motion for judgment on the pleadings, this court accepts the factual allegations in the complaint as true; we then consider such allegations 'and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in a light most favorable to the plaintiff.' " Intermountain Sports, Inc. v. Department of Transp., 103 P.3d 716, 718 (Utah App. 2004)

8. That the Dr. Ronald Joseph did prepare his medical report indicating the removal of these polyps from the Roth's colon and did state that the large 2.5 cm polyp was located at 15 cm from the anal verge.

9. That the April 28, 2004 pathology report for the polyps removed by Dr. Ronald Joseph indicated that the 2.5 cm polyp had cancerous cells touching the cauterized surgical margin where Dr. Joseph had removed this polyp.

10. That Roth was referred to a general surgeon, Dr. Hugh Voorhees, by Dr. Ronald Joseph for the resection of the surgical site where Dr. Ronald Joseph removed the large polyp ("polypectomy site").

11. That Dr. Voorhees performed the surgery upon Roth on or about May 24, 2004.

12. Dr. Ronald Joseph informed Dr. Voorhees before the surgery upon Roth that he had tattooed (ink markings) above and below the polypectomy site.

13. During the surgery referred to in paragraph 11 above, Dr. Voorhees was unable to locate Dr. Joseph's tattoos, so Dr. Voorhees first attempted to contact Dr. Joseph to assist; however, Dr. Joseph was not available and Dr. Voorhees was able to speak to Dr. Joseph's partner, Dr. Pedersen.

14. Being informed of the difficulty that Dr. Voorhees was having Dr. Pedersen went over Dr. Joseph's medical chart with Dr. Voorhees.

15. Dr. Voorhees requested that Dr. Pedersen help him locate the polypectomy site and Dr. Pedersen and an assistant went to the operating room to assist.

16. That commencing on or about May 24, 2004 Dr. Pedersen provided medical care and treatment to Roth during the surgical procedure being performed by Dr. Voorhees.

17. Prior to Dr. Pedersen's arriving to assist in locating the polypectomy site, Dr. Voorhees believing the polypectomy site was in the distal sigmoid colon, removed about 25 cm of distal sigmoid colon.

18. Dr. Pedersen after arriving in the OR and using a sigmoid scope began looking for the tattoos and polypectomy site.

19. Dr. Pedersen was unable to visualize the tattoos or the polypectomy site.

20. Dr. Pedersen inserted the sigmoid scope for a distance measuring 20 cm on the scope to the suture line created by Dr. Voorhees where he removed sigmoid colon.

21. Dr. Pedersen having just gone over Dr. Joseph's medical chart with Dr. Voorhees before arriving at the OR knew that the chart indicated that the area where the polypectomy site was located was both described at being 15 cm from the anal verge and in the distal sigmoid colon.

22. Dr. Pedersen an experienced Gastroenterologist knew that general surgeons performed colon surgeries on areas described by anatomical regions as opposed to measuring in centimeters and based upon Dr. Voorhees removing Roth's distal sigmoid colon an area described in Dr. Joseph's chart, Dr. Pedersen having scoped 20 cm from the anal verge of Roth to the suture line knew that the polypectomy site described by Dr. Joseph at 15 cm from the anal verge was likely not removed.

23. Dr. Pedersen as an experienced Gastroenterologist knew that from the date of the colonoscopy performed by his partner Dr. Joseph to the time of the surgery, nearly one month later that as a result of skimming the polypectomy site may not be visible at time of surgery.

24. At no time during the surgery did Dr. Pedersen inform Dr. Voorhees of such significant facts as the area where the polypectomy site was described as being by Dr.

Joseph remained, that Dr. Voorhees removed an area different than described by Dr. Joseph and that the inability to see the polypectomy site after nearly a month from date of colonoscopy was to be expected.

25. Dr. Pedersen was also aware at the time of the surgery that Dr. Joseph was experiencing some difficulty with the tattoo ink he was using (Brand name SPOT) and in particular that Dr. Joseph had experienced fading of the ink after he injected it in a patient's colon.

26. Dr. Pedersen did not relay this information to Dr. Voorhees during the surgery.

27. Dr. Pedersen also knew that because of Dr. Voorhees having removed a section of colon that he would have difficulty in looking for the polypectomy site and tattoos because he could not fully inflate the area because of concern for the fresh suture made by Dr. Voorhees, coupled with other difficulties a Gastroenterologist faces in the OR as opposed to scoping a patient in their facility, such as the OR bright lights and the colon having stool and other foreign material present.

28. Instead of informing Dr. Voorhees of the issues set forth in paragraphs 24 through 27 above, Dr. Pedersen merely informed Dr. Voorhees that he was unable to see the polypectomy site or the tattoos and concurred with Dr. Voorhees assessment that the polypectomy site was removed and in Dr. Voorhees completing the anastomosis and ending the surgical procedure.

29. Dr. Voorhees in a separate action testified on January 26, 2007 and August, 2007 that he discussed in June 2004 with Dr. Joseph his concern of not being informed prior to the surgery he performed on Roth that Dr. Joseph had experienced problems such

as fading of the SPOT tattoos.

30. That Roth did not discover until it was pointed out by Dr. Stephen Porter, another Gastroenterologist in July 2007 that Dr. Ronald Joseph's anatomical description of the location of the polypectomy site in Dr. Joseph's medical chart was in a different location than Dr. Joseph's centimeter description in the same medical chart and that it is well known by gastroenterologists that surgeon's used anatomical description for locating surgical sites.

31. Dr. Pedersen's inability to see any tattoos in the rectum is in contrast to and inconsistent with Dr. Randall Burt and Dr. Willis, while performing another colonoscopy on Plaintiff about six months later and subsequent to the routine follow-up by the Dr. Ronald Joseph on October 13, 2004, clearly seeing tattooing above and below a fresh polypectomy site that was located in the rectum at about 15 cm.

32. Upon information and testimony provided to Plaintiff within the year it appears that Dr. Pedersen concealed the fact that he failed to properly consult with Dr. Voorhees in May 2004 as to the reasons the tattooing may not have been identified, the reasons the polypectomy site could not be seen and that the area requiring surgery remained.

33. This discovery of new evidence was not discovered until Dr. Voorhees testimony in a separate legal proceeding on August 22, 2007.

34. That as a result of Dr. Pedersen's partner, Dr. Ronald Joseph, describing to the surgeon, Dr. Voorhees that the polypectomy site was in the distal sigmoid colon, a distinct anatomical colon location, caused Dr. Voorhees to reasonably believe the polypectomy site to be in the distal sigmoid colon and after not being able to locate the

tattoo markings Dr. Joseph claims he made, Dr. Voorhees removed the distal sigmoid colon while Roth was unconscious, sterile, open and on the operating table.

35. That the foregoing treatment and care provided by the Dr. Pedersen to Roth was performed in a careless and negligent manner and not in accordance with the good and accepted standards of medical care and practice, thereby causing the Roth to sustain serious personal injuries and other medical conditions which resulted in severe, serious and permanent injuries and which resulted from the careless, negligent and wanton disregard on the part of the Dr. Pedersen and without any negligence on the part of the Roth contributing thereto.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

This appeal is asking the Utah Court of Appeals to reverse the Trial Court's granting judgment on the pleadings.³ [R72-76] The Trial Court relied on factual allegations that are not found in the pleadings [R1-10 & 25-45] and without such allegations there is nothing in the pleadings that would justify the Trial Court finding that Roth learned of his injury in or about October 2004 as well as a finding of the negligence which resulted in the injury during this time period. Specifically the Trial Court relied on "During a subsequent colonoscopy on October 13, 2004, Dr. Joseph saw the tattoos, told Mr. Roth of the problem and referred him to another physician." [R73]. The pleadings do not reflect this allegation that Dr. Joseph "told Mr. Roth of the problem.." This is important because without this telling Roth there is a problem there is nothing to

³ Although Dr. Pedersen specifically sought relief under Rule 12(b)(6) *URCP*, and Plaintiff responded as if the motion were pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the Court recognized that the Motion was pursuant to Rule 12(c) *URCP*, as Dr. Pedersen had filed his Answer herein. The Trial Court granted the Motion as a Judgment on the Pleadings under Rule 12(c).

indicate Roth knew there was a problem, a fact Dr. Pedersen relied heavily on in arguing his position and one the Court assumed without making such finding based upon the pleadings. Rule 12(c) requires findings to be made upon the pleadings.

Roth contends that U.C.A. §78B-3-404(2)(b) is applicable to the case at hand and not subsection (1). [R46-57] That Dr. Pedersen owed a fiduciary duty to Roth as his patient to disclose and inform Roth that the site Dr. Joseph described as the cancerous tumor (polypectomy) site was not removed during surgery. [R46-57] That Dr. Pedersen knew Roth would rely on being informed after surgery by the surgeon that the polypectomy site was removed, which information was inconsistent with what Dr. Pedersen knew. [R25-45, ¶7c] That Dr. Pedersen knew during the May 24, 2004 surgery of Roth that the reason that he could not see the tattoos that were meant to mark the location of the polypectomy site was because Dr. Joseph who supposedly marked the polypectomy site used a new ink dye that occasionally faded or disappeared. [R1-10, ¶30] Dr. Pedersen failed to inform the general surgeon, Dr. Voorhees during his operation of Roth on May 24, 2004 of this fact. [R1-10, ¶31] Dr. Pedersen further failed to inform Roth, his patient of this fact. [R1-10, ¶39] Dr. Pedersen in response states that he could not have affirmatively concealed this information from Roth since he never spoke with Roth.⁴ However, although having a duty to disclose and not revealing this significant medical information is of course one method of concealing something from another.

Roth's averments in his Complaint satisfy and are sufficiently pled per Rule 9(b) *URCP* to demonstrate fraudulent concealment. Dr. Voorhees testified under oath in his

⁴ During the May 24, 2004 surgery performed by Dr. Voorhees and Dr. Pedersen, Roth was unconscious. Pg 6, ¶41 Complaint. [R 1-10].

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