2009

# Larry Roth v. Peder J. Pedersen : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Mr. Roth knew in May of 2004, as he concedes in his Brief at p. 22, that Dr. Pedersen consulted with Dr. Voorhees during Mr. Roth’s colon surgery. On October 13, 2004, as alleged in the Complaint, Dr. Joseph advised Mr. Roth that Dr. Voorhees had failed to remove the portion of his infected colon delineated by the tattoos. At that time, Mr. Roth knew, or should have known, that his surgery was not successful and that the failure was possibly due to negligence of both Dr. Voorhees and Dr. Pedersen in failing to see the tattoos. Under Utah law, Mr. Roth’s action against Dr. Pedersen accrued on October 13, 2004. In order to do so timely, Mr. Roth needed to bring a claim against Dr. Pedersen by October 14, 2006. His Notice of Intent to Commence Action, however, was not served until

January 12, 2008. The trial court correctly dismissed Mr. Roth's action as time-barred.

Mr. Roth attempts to avoid the obvious untimeliness of his action against Dr. Pedersen by alleging fraudulent concealment. The fraudulent concealment allegation fails in this case, however, for several reasons. First, once the cause of action accrued, *i.e.*, when Mr. Roth discovered or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered an injury which is not an accepted result of Dr. Voorhees' surgical procedure, the fraudulent concealment tolling provisions of the Utah Healthcare Malpractice Act did not apply. Mr. Roth knew that the portion of his colon delineated by Dr. Joseph's tattooing had not been removed when Dr. Joseph told him so on October 13, 2004. Indeed, that is why Mr. Roth served Dr. Voorhees with a Notice of Intent to Commence Action in May of 2006. Mr. Roth had all the information needed to file a claim against Dr. Pedersen at the same time he had the information to file his claim against Dr. Voorhees.

Second, Mr. Roth failed to adequately plead fraudulent concealment under Rule 9(b), Utah R.Civ.P., which requires that fraud be plead with particularity. Indeed, Mr. Roth does not plead that Dr. Pedersen had a duty of disclosure to him that he failed to perform. Rather, Mr. Roth alleges only that "it appears" that Dr. Pedersen failed to advise Dr. Voorhees of problems that Dr. Joseph was having with fading ink. Central to the concealment claim is the issue of how Mr. Roth could rely on an alleged failure to communicate to Dr. Voorhees the possibility of fading ink once he knew the ink marks had been seen by subsequent practitioners on October 13, 2004.

Third, Mr. Roth makes no allegation of an affirmative act of fraudulent concealment as required by statute. Mr. Roth does not allege in his Complaint, nor does he argue in his Appellate Brief, that Dr. Pedersen did anything more than fail to tell Dr. Voorhees that Dr. Joseph had expressed to him problems with fading ink. Additionally, Mr. Roth fails to establish any duty that Dr. Pedersen had to discuss a hypothetical fading ink issue with him. As a matter of law, Dr. Pedersen's silence cannot equate to an affirmative act of fraudulent concealment.

The statute of limitations issues were presented to the trial court pursuant to a motion for judgment on the pleadings. Mr. Roth complains that the Court used facts provided in the Answer as a basis for its ruling, apparently arguing that only the allegations of Plaintiff's Complaint could be judged by the Court in ruling on a motion for judgment on the pleadings. However, Rule 12(c) contemplates the potential for a judgment on the pleadings (plural) as distinguished from a motion to dismiss based upon the sole pleading of a complaint. Moreover, none of the facts presented by Dr. Pedersen's Answer contradict the allegations of Mr. Roth's Complaint. Rather, the Answer merely fills in some additional, uncontroverted details of the medical care omitted from the Complaint, particularly those relating to the statute of limitations issue. It was appropriate for the trial court to rely on the facts set forth in the Answer, especially in light of the fact that Mr. Roth did not contest the accuracy of the additional facts provided by the Answer. Moreover, the relevant facts relating to the discovery of injury are conceded by Mr. Roth's. He acknowledges in his Complaint is conceded in Mr. Roth. He acknowledges in his brief on appeal that he knew of Dr. Pedersen's involvement in the Voorhees' surgery, knew of the inability of both Dr. Voorhees and Dr. Pedersen to observe the

tattooing and knew on October 13, 2004 that the tattoos placed by Dr. Joseph were still present after Dr. Voorhees' surgery.

Mr. Roth could have initiated legal action against Dr. Pedersen at the time he did so against Dr. Voorhees. Instead, he chose to attempt to initiate legal action against Dr. Pedersen only after he failed to prevail on his claim against Dr. Voorhees, *i.e.*, when Mr. Roth discovered his injury on October 13, 2004.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **I. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY CONSIDERED INFORMATION PRESENTED IN DR. PEDERSEN'S ANSWER AS PART OF THE "PLEADINGS."**

##### **A. MR. ROTH HAS FAILED TO PRESERVE THIS ISSUE FOR APPEAL.**

Despite his claim to the contrary, Mr. Roth fails to cite to any part of the record where he preserved the argument that the trial court erroneously considered Dr. Pedersen's Answer in ruling on the Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings. It is well-established that a party may not raise a substantive issue for the first time upon appeal. *E.g.*, Loveland v. Orem City Corp., 746 P.2d 763, 767 (Utah 1987). Centennial Inv. Co., LLC v. Nuttall, 2007 UT App. 321, ¶ 26, n. 7, 171 P.3d 458, 464 (declining to address part of attorney fee question not preserved for appeal).

This Court has explained what steps are necessary for preserving a substantive issue for appeal.

To preserve a substantive issue for appeal, a party must timely bring the issue to the attention of the trial court, thus providing the court an opportunity to rule on the issue's merits. Issues not raised in the trial court in timely fashion are deemed waived, precluding the appellate court from considering their merits on appeal. Second, the issue must be specifically raised such that the issue is sufficiently raised to a level of consciousness before the trial court. Third, the party must introduce to the trial court

supporting evidence or relevant legal authority to support its argument.

Hart v. Salt Lake County Commission, 945 P.2d 125, 129-30 (Utah App. 1997) (punctuation, citations omitted). The Hart court noted that merely mentioning an issue in the pleadings or raising an issue in post-trial motions does not preserve the issue for appeal. Id. Further, even if a post-trial motion raised the issue, where the court did not rule on the issue and the party did not point out to the court its failure to rule, the issue is not preserved for appeal. Id.

“When issues are not brought to the trial court’s attention in a timely manner, they are deemed waived, precluding [the appellate] court from considering their merits on appeal.” Holmstrom v. C.R. England, Inc., 2000 UT App 239, ¶ 25, 8 P.3d 281, 288 (punctuation, citation omitted). Nowhere in Mr. Roth’s opposition memorandum or anywhere else in the trial court record is there an argument that the trial court might be considering matters beyond the allegations of the Complaint or that doing so would be improper. Additionally, Mr. Roth never controverted the allegations of the Answer or moved to have the Court treat Dr. Pedersen’s motion as one for summary judgment under Rule 56. As a consequence, Mr. Roth has waived the argument.

**B. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT CONSIDER ISSUES OUTSIDE OF THE PLEADINGS.**

Mr. Roth complains that the trial court relied on facts set forth in Dr. Pedersen’s Answer rather than focusing solely upon allegations of his Complaint. In doing so, however, he ignores the fact that Rule 12(c) provides for a motion for judgment on the pleadings. It goes without saying, however, that an answer is a pleading. E.g., Turville v. J & J Properties, L.C., 2006 UT App 305, ¶ 27, 145 P.3d

1146, 1151 (answer constitutes a responsive pleading); Rule 7(a), Utah R.Civ.P. (defining “pleadings” as the complaint, answer and other initial filings).

What is also significant is that Dr. Pedersen’s Answer did not contradict any facts alleged in Mr. Roth’s Complaint. The Answer merely provides additional facts, which Mr. Roth never sought to controvert, material to the statute of limitations issue. Adopting Mr. Roth’s construction of a motion for judgment on the pleadings would mean that a court would have to treat a Rule 12(c) motion as one based only on a single pleading, the complaint, rather than both the complaint and answer. Doing so would make Rule 12(c) a nullity.

To constitute matters “outside the pleadings,” the information considered by the trial court would have to include documentation or evidence submitted with a memorandum as opposed to information specifically set forth in the answer. E.g., Tuttle v. Olds, 2007 UT App 10, ¶¶ 8-9, 155 P.3d 893, 896 (holding that federal judgment attached to memorandum and not included in an answer was information “outside the pleadings.”)

Mr. Roth had the opportunity to rebut the facts presented by the Answer and have the motion treated as one for summary judgment under Rule 56. He did not because the facts are incontrovertible. For purposes of a judgment on the pleadings, the trial court appropriately considered the uncontroverted facts presented by the Answer.

**II. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT MR. ROTH’S CLAIMS AGAINST DR. PEDERSEN ARE BARRED BY THE RUNNING OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.**

Mr. Roth concedes that Dr. Voorhees told him of Dr. Pedersen’s consultation during his surgery on or near May 24, 2004. Mr. Roth admits he knew on October



13, 2004, as a result of the follow-up colonoscopy by Dr. Joseph, that the tattoo marks still remained in his colon and that a second surgery would be required. (Complaint ¶ 37, R. 5-6.) Those two bits of knowledge are sufficient under Utah law for Mr. Roth's action against Dr. Pedersen to have accrued on October 13, 2004.

The statutory language is clear about when a cause of action for medical negligence must be instituted:

A malpractice action against a health care provider shall be commenced within two years after the plaintiff or patient discovers, or through the use of reasonable diligence should have discovered the injury, whichever first occurs, but not to exceed four years after the date of the alleged act, omission, neglect, or occurrence.

Utah Code Ann. § 78B-3-404(1).<sup>1</sup>

Under Utah law, the statute of limitations begins to run when a patient knows or should know that he has suffered a legal injury. Foil v. Ballinger, 601 P.2d 144, 147 (Utah 1979). Mr. Roth is correct in stating that “legal injury” involves both discovery of the injury and the negligence causing the injury. (Aplt's Brf p. 17, citing Foil.) He ignores, however, subsequent Utah case law which deals with the issue of discovery of legal injury. Where it is clear that an unexpected outcome resulted from an identifiable medical incident, a patient should know that legal injury was suffered at the time of the medical event. Reiser v. Lohner, 641 P.2d 93, 100 (Utah 1982 (emphasis added)). See also Floyd v. Western Surgical Associates, 773 P.2d 401, 404 (Utah App. 1989) (where the patient can make a connection between his surgery and his subsequent symptoms, he discovered or should have discovered

---

<sup>1</sup>Formerly numbered § 78-14-4(1). Because the language is identical, we cite to the current version of the statute.

his injury); Brower v. Brown, 744 P.2d 1337, 1340 (Utah 1987) (Zimmerman, J. concurring in part and dissenting in part) (where a patient receives an injury which is clearly not an expected result of a surgical procedure, that is “enough, as a matter of law, to place her on notice that she had received a legal injury.” (emphasis added)).

Under Utah law, accrual of a cause of action is not postponed until the injured party has discovered the true nature or full extent of the injury. E.g., Avis v. Board of Review of Industrial Commission, 837 P.2d 584, 588 (Utah App. 1992) (rejecting plaintiff’s argument that the statute did not begin to run until he “discovered the full extent of his injury.”) “[A] cause of action accrues when a plaintiff could have first filed and prosecuted an action to successful completion.” DOIT, Inc. v. Touche, Ross & Co., 926 P.2d 835, 843 (Utah 1996) (citations omitted). “Once a claim accrues, it may not be maintained unless it is commenced within the limitations period prescribed by the applicable statute of limitations.” Id.<sup>2</sup>

Neither is the accrual of a legal injury postponed while a patient investigates who is responsible for the medical injury. McDougal v. Weed, 945 P.2d 175, 177 (Utah App. 1997). In McDougal, the plaintiff named the wrong physician in his statutory notice of intent, pursuing the matter through the prelitigation process. Subsequently, before the trial court and on appeal, he argued that he “did not discover, nor could have discovered through reasonable diligence, the identity of the

---

<sup>2</sup>Mr. Roth has never explained how Dr. Pedersen’s failure to discuss a problem of fading ink could constitute fraudulent concealment when he knew he had been injured because the tattooed portion of his colon had not been removed and that both Dr. Voorhees and Dr. Pedersen were involved in the failed search for the tattoos during the surgery. Moreover, once the patient knows of his injury and his cause of action accrues, subsequent concealment, whether fraudulent or not, is legally immaterial. While the statutory discovery rule tolls pending discovery, it does not stop the running of the limitations period where the action has already accrued.

proper party defendant” until informed of the identity by the prelitigation panel after the statute had run. McDougal at 177. This Court disagreed, concluding that, under the statutory language, the action accrued upon discovery of the injury, not the party responsible for the injury.

The statutory language clearly sets the moment the “patient discovers . . . the injury” as the triggering moment for the limitations period. Thus, the only triggering moment contemplated under the statute is the moment of discovery of the legal injury. The discovery of an injury and that the injury was possibly the result of medical malpractice are facts distinct from discovery of the identity of a defendant. Accordingly, an injured person need not determine the identity of the person responsible for his or her injury to determine that he or she has been injured and that the injury was possibly tied to negligence. Thus, we conclude that the statutory discovery rule does not require that the statute of limitations be tolled until the identity of the tortfeasor is discovered or should have been discovered after a reasonably diligent effort to ascertain it.

McDougal at 177.

McDougal is controlling. Mr. Roth knew he had suffered a legal injury by October 13, 2004. That is why he sued Dr. Voorhees. Mr. Roth also knew of Dr. Pedersen’s participation in the surgery in May of 2004. He knew the facts necessary to begin an action against Dr. Pedersen when he initiated his claim against Dr. Voorhees. In fact, Mr. Roth’s notice of claim against Dr. Voorhees specifically references Dr. Pedersen’s involvement. The injury that caused the claim to accrue against Dr. Voorhees was also the injury that caused the claim to accrue against Dr. Pedersen.<sup>3</sup> There was nothing that legally prevented Mr. Roth from instituting

---

<sup>3</sup>Mr. Roth is not alleging a different injury was caused by Dr. Pedersen only that the injury was the responsibility of a different physician than the one he first sued.

legal action against Dr. Pedersen when he initiated the litigation against Dr. Voorhees.

Mr. Roth's argument that he did not know he had a claim against Dr. Pedersen until after Dr. Voorhees' deposition was taken is of no avail. Lack of knowledge of whom among several known potential tortfeasors is at fault does not toll the running of the limitations period. Anderson v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc., 920 P.2d 575, 578 (Utah App. 1996) ("simple ignorance of or obliviousness to the existence of a cause of action will not prevent the running of the statute of limitations.") Mr. Roth failed to name as a defendant a physician who consulted in the surgery that caused his injury. In doing so he took the risk that he may have sued the wrong defendant or that the defendant he did sue might seek to blame the consulting physician. The fact that Mr. Roth failed in his suit against Dr. Voorhees does not prevent the running of the statute of limitations against Dr. Pedersen.

The facts of this case are analogous to those in McDougal, where the plaintiff was in discovery with the wrong party when he discovered the identity of the proper defendant based upon the testimony of the defendant he had named. Here, Mr. Roth was in discovery in his claim against Dr. Voorhees when he "discovered" evidence of a problem of fading ink, which the failure to disclose is now claimed to be negligence on the part of Dr. Pedersen. He could have named Dr. Pedersen from the outset, but did not.<sup>4</sup>

---

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